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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  Good

          3  afternoon, everyone. My name is Erik Martin Dilan,

          4  and I am the Chair of the City Council's Housing and

          5  Buildings Committee.  And today the Committee is

          6  conducting a hearing on Intro 561, a local law to

          7  amend the Administrative Code of the City of New

          8  York, in relation to an alternative enforcement

          9  program by the Department of Housing Preservation

         10  and Development for violations of the Housing

         11  Maintenance Code, and the Multiple Dwelling Law.

         12  This Committee has previously conducted oversight on

         13  the issue of HPD coded enforcement last June.

         14                 Generally, the most severe housing

         15  violations have been designated as Class C

         16  violations, and must be corrected within 24 hours.

         17  When landlords do not correct these violations, HPD

         18  will often order emergency repairs, and then bill

         19  the owner for the cost of making those repairs.

         20                 Traditional methods by which HPD

         21  enforces housing maintenance standards in the City

         22  of New York have not always yielded the intended

         23  results, since the core physical problems in

         24  distressed buildings are not always corrected.

         25                 The legislation before us here today
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          2  would create an Alternative Enforcement Program

          3  which is intended to alleviate serious physical

          4  deterioration of those buildings, by forcing the

          5  owner to make effective repairs to insure that HPD

          6  effectuate repairs at a more comprehensive fashion,

          7  so that emergency conditions are alleviated, and

          8  that underlying physical conditions related to

          9  housing code violations are addressed.

         10                 Today the Committee expects to

         11  receive testimony from representatives from HPD, as

         12  well as tenants, housing advocates and

         13  representatives from the real estate industry.

         14                 If there is any member from the

         15  general public that wishes to testify on this item

         16  today, I'd like to ask them to please see a

         17  Sergeant- at- Arms -- and if I could ask the

         18  Sergeant at- Arms to close the door in the rear so

         19  that we get some of the outside noise, outside of

         20  the chamber, that would be appreciated -- to see a

         21  Sergeant- at- Arms if you wish to testify and then

         22  we can get to your testimony.

         23                 But before we turn to HPD, I'd like

         24  to acknowledge my colleagues who are here.  To the

         25  right, we have the minority leader of the City
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          2  Council, Jimmy Oddo.  Next to him, Lou Fidler from

          3  Brooklyn, Council Member Tish James, who is the lead

          4  sponsor of this bill, and Council Member Tony

          5  Avella, who's a member of the Committee.

          6                 And before we get to the

          7  administration, I'd like to give Council Member

          8  James, who's the lead sponsor of the bill, a moment

          9  to make a brief statement.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair and thank you for allowing me to make a brief

         12  statement.

         13                 10,135 buildings received emergency

         14  repairs in Fiscal Year 2006.  Forty six percent of

         15  these received emergency repairs in Fiscal Year

         16  2005.  And 22 percent received emergency repairs in

         17  Fiscal Year 2004, suggesting that even buildings

         18  that do not receive emergency repairs, often do not

         19  improve over the long term.

         20                 The Safe Housing Act created an

         21  Alternative Enforcement Program that targets 200

         22  buildings annually.  Buildings are identified by two

         23  major indicators of distress, high HPD violation

         24  counts, and unpaid emergency repair charges.  The

         25  landlords will be given four months to cure
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          2  violations.  If the landlord chose substantial

          3  compliance, the building is released from the

          4  program and monitored.  If there is not substantial

          5  compliance, a scope of work outlining core problems

          6  is drafted by HPD.  In order to correct, based on

          7  the scope of work is issued and put on file in the

          8  office.  If the landlord does not proceed to

          9  complete this scope of work, HPD completes the

         10  repairs, including systems replacement when

         11  necessary.  If the landlord proceeds to complete the

         12  scope of work in a timely fashion, HPD monitors

         13  progress at least quarterly.  And HPD will monitor

         14  the situation six months in a timely manner.  HPD

         15  will report on this program annually and publicly,

         16  and report to the City Council.  This program will

         17  be on going and will address 200 new buildings every

         18  year.

         19                 I want to thank the Coalition.  I

         20  want to thank Housing Here and Now.  I want to thank

         21  Make the Road By Walking and all of the advocates,

         22  Pratt Area Community Council, the list goes on and

         23  on and on.  I apologize if I left any of you

         24  advocates out. Don't yell at me.  Blame it on my

         25  head, and not my heart.  I want to thank HPD for

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDING

          2  coming to negotiating with the City Council and

          3  reaching a compromise with respect to these

          4  buildings.  And I look forward, again, to repairing

          5  all of these buildings, so we can improve the health

          6  and safety of countless number of residents in the

          7  City of New York, particularly residents living

          8  below the poverty level.

          9                 I'm a proud sponsor along with my

         10  many colleagues here today.  And I look forward to

         11  passage of this bill.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you,

         13  Council Member James.

         14                 At this point, we will hear testimony

         15  from HPD.  And I have First Deputy Commissioner,

         16  John Warren who is here, along with some of his

         17  colleagues.  If you could just introduce yourselves

         18  before you begin your testimony, and then you can

         19  proceed.

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         21  Sure.  Good afternoon, Chairman Dilan and members of

         22  the Housing and Buildings Committee.  My name is

         23  John Warren and I'm First Deputy Commissioner of the

         24  Department of Housing Preservation and Development.

         25  Sitting to my right is Luiz Aragon, Deputy
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          2  Commissioner of Preservation Services at HPD.  And

          3  to my left is Barbara Flynn, Chief of Staff of HPD's

          4  Office of Intergovernmental Affairs.

          5                 We are pleased to be here today to

          6  discuss Intro 561, the Safe Buildings Act, and

          7  explain how we intend to implement the program.

          8                 As you know, this bill is the result

          9  of a long and intense debate about how to improve

         10  conditions in rental housing in the City.  We

         11  believe this bill results in a program that will

         12  fill an important role in the City's enforcement

         13  strategy, and will strengthen what is already the

         14  broadest and most comprehensive housing code

         15  enforcement program in the country.

         16                 Let me begin by putting the new

         17  Alternative Enforcement Program in the context of

         18  HPD's enforcement strategy. The comprehensive

         19  approach that we utilize includes a number of

         20  programs and tools that have been developed over the

         21  years to address challenges faced, in maintaining

         22  the City's rental housing stock.

         23                 The coordinated efforts of agency

         24  staff and the Office of Preservation Services, which

         25  includes the divisions of code enforcement, housing
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          2  litigation, neighborhood preservation and

          3  maintenance, allow us to focus on distress

          4  properties with the variety of different tools.

          5  These tools include the Emergency Repair Program,

          6  ERP, the Seven Day Administrator Program, the Third

          7  Party Transfer Program, Voluntary Repair Agreements

          8  and the Targeted Cyclical Enforcement Program.

          9                 Each program was developed to address

         10  conditions in the City's rental housing stock, where

         11  a landlord is unwilling or unable to maintain

         12  property in good condition.   It is important to

         13  note that these situations, unacceptable as they

         14  are, represent a very small portion of the housing

         15  stock in the City.

         16                 As we have mentioned in recent

         17  testimony before the Council, conditions in the

         18  City's housing stock, as measured by the housing and

         19  vacancy survey, are the best they have been since

         20  the survey was begun in 1965.  That said, there is

         21  still work for us to do to make sure that all

         22  tenants receive the level of service that they

         23  deserve and that the code mandates.

         24                 The particular challenge that the

         25  Alternative Enforcement Program is designed to
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          2  address, is the case in which buildings develop

          3  recurring maintenance problems that must be cured

          4  through HPD's Emergency Repair Program.  The first

          5  activity of this program is to identify those

          6  buildings with a record of serious code violations

          7  and emergency repair expenditures by HPD.  Once the

          8  buildings have been identified, and the owners

          9  notified, the program creates an incentive for the

         10  owner to address the violations and the underlying

         11  conditions that lead to these violations.  If the

         12  owners do not step in to clear these violations,

         13  they will face two penalties.

         14                 First there are higher fees assessed

         15  against owners who are targeted for enforcement in

         16  this program.  Second, HPD will make more systemic

         17  repairs meant to address the underlying conditions

         18  that cause the violations.

         19                 This is a shift form the current

         20  practice of the Emergency Repair Program, where

         21  violations are cured by HPD in the least intrusive

         22  way possible.  I would like to emphasize that for

         23  the vast majority of work performed in ERP, the

         24  original practice will continue.

         25                 ERP work performed in this manner has
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          2  been very effective.  In the case of buildings

          3  selected for this program however, we believe that a

          4  more aggressive intervention is appropriate.  We

          5  believe this because these properties have a history

          6  of HPD activity and making the same repairs more

          7  than once through ERP, is not efficient for the

          8  residents or for HPD.

          9                 A more systemic approach will

         10  minimize the number of visits by HPD inspectors and

         11  more importantly, insure that tenants' apartments

         12  are maintained in better condition.

         13                 I would like to speak briefly about

         14  how the program will work.  Every year, HPD will

         15  create a list of 200 different buildings that meet

         16  the criteria outlined in the bill.  In the first two

         17  years of the program, the criteria include at least

         18  five hazardous Class B and immediately hazardous

         19  Class C violations per unit over the last two years,

         20  one hundred dollars of unpaid Emergency Repair

         21  Program charges per unit over the last two years,

         22  and 27 open B and C violations that were issued

         23  within the last two years.

         24                 In the third year of the program, the

         25  first two conditions will remain the same and HPD
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          2  will include buildings with 25 open B and C

          3  violations.

          4                 In the fourth and succeeding years,

          5  the criteria will include one hundred dollars of

          6  both paid and unpaid ERP charges that were incurred

          7  in the prior two years.

          8                 At the commencement of the program

          9  and each year thereafter, HPD will send written

         10  notification to the owners of 200 buildings that

         11  meet the established criteria.  In addition, the

         12  occupants of the buildings, and the Council member

         13  in whose district the building is located, will be

         14  notified.

         15                 I should like to note that we expect

         16  to work closely with tenants and Council members

         17  throughout this process to keep everyone informed

         18  and solicit feedback, as work is performed. After

         19  notification, the owner will have four months to

         20  correct the violations, pay outstanding municipal

         21  charges and register the building with HPD.  When

         22  the violations are repaired, the owner will request

         23  a re- inspection by HPD.  If HPD determines that the

         24  owner has substantially complied, then we will

         25  provide a written determination to the owner, that
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          2  the building has been discharged from the program.

          3                 The legislation defines the term

          4  substantially complied to mean that all heat and hot

          5  water violations and 80 percent of all B and C

          6  violations have been corrected.  In order for the

          7  building to be discharged from the program, the

          8  owner must also pay all outstanding municipal

          9  charges and liens and register the building with HPD

         10  if it is not already validly registered.  HPD will

         11  then notify the owner, the occupants of the

         12  building, and the local Council member that the

         13  building is being discharged from the program.  HPD

         14  will continue to monitor these buildings, at least

         15  quarterly, for one year.

         16                 If an owner has not substantially

         17  complied, the building will continue to be in the

         18  Alternative Enforcement Program.  Owners will be

         19  charged fees for any inspection, re inspection or

         20  other action taken during the time period that the

         21  building is in the program.  Any unpaid expenses or

         22  fees imposed by HPD will become a lien on the

         23  property.  After the initial four month period, HPD

         24  will perform a building wide inspection on all

         25  remaining buildings whose owners did not
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          2  substantially correct violations.  After the

          3  inspection, HPD will issue an order to correct

          4  violations and repair related underlying conditions.

          5    The order will be filed in the Office of the

          6  County Clerk where their building is located.  Once

          7  an order is issued, HPD will prepare a scope of work

          8  and prepare to perform the necessary repairs.  At

          9  this point, an owner can still correct the

         10  violations and the underlying conditions.  If they

         11  do so, the Department will assess the progress of

         12  repairs at quarterly intervals and determine if

         13  repairs are progressing.  If after six months, HPD

         14  determines that repair work is not progressing in a

         15  timely fashion, then the agency will complete the

         16  work.

         17                 As noted above, the Department may

         18  discharge a building from the program after

         19  substantial compliance, payment of fees and all

         20  outstanding ERP charges, including liens and

         21  registration of the building.  When a building has

         22  been discharged, HPD will issue a written notice to

         23  the owner, the occupants of the building and the

         24  Council member in whose district the building is

         25  located, and will file a recision of the order in
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          2  the County Clerk's Office.  The owner managing agent

          3  or designated representative of a building will be

          4  required to participate in a training program on

          5  building operations and maintenance, to complete the

          6  discharge process.

          7                 By February 15th of each year, HPD

          8  will prepare a report on the Alternative Enforcement

          9  Program which will include the address and owner of

         10  each building, the Council member in whose district

         11  the building is located, the aggregate number of

         12  open B and C violations for each building, the ratio

         13  of such violations and unpaid emergency repair

         14  charges to the number of units, and whether or not

         15  the building has been discharged from the program,

         16  and the building status.

         17                 Not later than four years after the

         18  program begins, HPD will conduct a study to evaluate

         19  the program and will examine the program's cost

         20  effectiveness, whether the established criteria are

         21  appropriate or should be changed, and whether the

         22  monitoring is adequate or should be changed.  HPD

         23  will make a determination based upon its findings,

         24  whether the program should be modified or continued,

         25  and the reasons.  The outcome of the study will be
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          2  included in the annual report.

          3                 The proposed legislation also

          4  contains a section providing for electronic

          5  certification of violations.  The City's Department

          6  of Information Technology and Telecommunications is

          7  the lead agency in developing this technical

          8  application.  HPD will implement this section as

          9  soon after the technology is available as is

         10  practicable.

         11                 While HPD supports the basic

         12  framework of the Alternative Enforcement Program,

         13  there are a few aspects of the legislation that

         14  should be modified.

         15                 First, the legislation should provide

         16  flexibility for the agency to modify the criteria

         17  used, to include a building in the program.

         18                 Secondly, the legislation should

         19  include a sunset provision, since its efficacy and

         20  ultimate costs are as yet unknown.  We estimate that

         21  it will cost $10 million a year to operate the

         22  program, although we will ultimately receive fee and

         23  judgement revenue that will offset some of these

         24  expenses.

         25                 Despite these costs, which are
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          2  significant, we are optimistic that this program

          3  will be another important tool in our enforcement

          4  efforts.  Collectively, these enforcement tools

          5  ensure that New York City tenants are provided with

          6  essential building services while holding property

          7  owners responsible when they fail to maintain their

          8  buildings up to code.

          9                 In closing, I would like to note that

         10  the development of this program has benefited from a

         11  collaborative effort between the City Council and

         12  the administration.  We look forward to continuing

         13  that close collaboration as the program is

         14  implemented.

         15                 Once again, thank you and we'd be

         16  happy to answer any questions you may have about

         17  this initiative.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Before we get to

         19  questions, I just want to acknowledge a few of my

         20  colleagues that have arrived. Council Member Leroy

         21  Comrie from Queens, Council Member Joel Rivera from

         22  the Bronx who have joined us, as well as Council

         23  Member Rosie Mendez from Manhattan.

         24                 I have just a few very brief

         25  questions before I turn it over to my colleagues for
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          2  some Q & A.  But I just want to thank you for your

          3  testimony because it was pretty expansive as to what

          4  the bill does and pretty clear, so it eliminated

          5  some of my questions and that should just make for

          6  these proceedings to go a little bit quicker, which

          7  I'm sure nobody minds.

          8                 For the benefit of my colleagues,

          9  this is the first hearing we have on this bill.  The

         10  items will be laid aside at the conclusion of the

         11  hearing, and will be brought to a vote sometime in

         12  the near future.

         13                 First, I want to start, Mr. Warren,

         14  by just asking, how does the passage of this bill,

         15  when we get to that point, relate to the TCEP

         16  Program that began with the MOU signed in 1995

         17  between this Council and the administration?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  We

         19  would expect to continue TCEP in parallel to this

         20  program, and if there are buildings that have been

         21  identified for Alternative Enforcement, we would

         22  suggest that they not be included in TCEP, so we

         23  could sort of run on parallel tracks and do

         24  additional buildings that way.  It would be the way

         25  we'd expect to run it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  That's what we

          3  were looking to hear.  Thank you.

          4                 How does HPD then determine, or plan

          5  to determine, if it's economically feasible to

          6  undertake repairs to restore a building that is

          7  occupied?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

          9  The idea of the economic feasibility is to look at

         10  clearly underlying conditions in the violations.  It

         11  is not expected that this bill would address

         12  buildings that require very substantial

         13  rehabilitation.

         14                 As I mentioned in my testimony, we

         15  have a number of other programs that are in place to

         16  address buildings that are in much worse condition.

         17  So, for example, the 7A Administrator Program or

         18  some of the other programs we run that are

         19  specifically targeted to buildings that are a danger

         20  to life, health and safety, we would expect them to

         21  be available to be used if buildings require that

         22  kind of work.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  And then

         24  you mentioned in your testimony that there's going

         25  to be 200 buildings that qualify every year for this
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          2  program.  I guess, how will HPD prioritize which

          3  buildings are selected?  And I guess, how will

          4  participation be divided amongst boroughs, if you

          5  have that information at this time?

          6                 And lastly, can tenants qualify

          7  buildings through some sort of requested

          8  participation, if those buildings meet the criteria?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         10  Well, the buildings are going to need a numbers

         11  driven formula.  So, we would expect that the top

         12  200 buildings that meet that formula based on sort

         13  of worse conditions, the largest number of

         14  violations, would be the ones that we would address.

         15    So, in fact, there isn't really an opt in way for

         16  tenants to join the program.  Of course, if there

         17  are buildings that are in condition that the tenants

         18  identify, obviously they should call 311 with

         19  complaints, they should deal with their local not

         20  for profits, and work with us directly either on 7A

         21  or any of the other programs that we work with, to

         22  make sure those buildings are addressed.

         23                 The important thing, I guess to

         24  emphasize, and I've tried to do it in the testimony,

         25  and I would say it again here, is this is really one
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          2  piece of our enforcement strategy, which is very

          3  broad.  So, I think the idea is we're not going to

          4  solve every problem in this program.  We think it

          5  fills a good niche that we haven't really filled

          6  before, but there are a number of other programs we

          7  run, that we will continue to run.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  And I

          9  guess in theory, if you have 400 buildings that say

         10  met the criteria for this program, your answer would

         11  be that the top 200 offenders would automatically go

         12  into the program.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         14  That's right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  And then you can

         16  get to the other buildings in year two or year

         17  three, as needed.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         19  That's exactly what we'd expect.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  Then

         21  hypothetically, if HPD selects a building that is

         22  less than half occupied and the owner states to your

         23  agency that it's in his or her intention to demolish

         24  the building after the tenants move out and

         25  construct a new building on that property.  Is HPD
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          2  going to insist that the owner comply with the

          3  requirements to correct all the violations?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  We

          5  would look at a situation like that very carefully,

          6  and work with the State Division of Housing and

          7  Community Renewal to be assured that the owner is

          8  following all the legal requirements, to make sure

          9  that they are following procedures, assuming the

         10  building is rent stabilized.  Regardless of that,

         11  the tenants do need to receive the level of service,

         12  while the building is still occupied.  So, we would

         13  make sure that happens.  So that would be a

         14  judgement call we'd have to look at quite closely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay, now I want

         16  to shift a little bit.  Do you think that you need

         17  to hire any new staff?  You mentioned that there is

         18  a $10 million expense to run this program. Is your

         19  agency going to create a new division and hire new

         20  staff? Or are you going to use existing staff to run

         21  this program?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         23  No, in fact, there will be a new hiring plan for

         24  staffing up the program, and actually I would turn

         25  to Luiz Aragon to talk about that a little more
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          2  specifically.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARAGON:  This is

          4  Luiz Aragon. I'm the Deputy Commissioner for

          5  Preservation Services at HPD.

          6                 We plan on hiring roughly between 48

          7  and 50 new employees to staff this new division.

          8  And it's both support staff and field staff.  The

          9  big difference in the way that we do business here

         10  is that we're actually going to have teams going out

         11  to these buildings.  So, it's going to be an

         12  inspector, a construction project manager, as we

         13  refer to as a CPM, and a community coordinator.  So,

         14  it will be this team that would go to each building

         15  and work with all the tenants and the owners to

         16  address the conditions in the building.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  And that

         18  would consist of the whole 10 million, it would be

         19  staffing and --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARAGON:  The 10

         21  million cost, on average, includes staffing and the

         22  repairs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Oh, so the amount

         24  that you need to make the repairs will be included

         25  in that number also?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ARAGON:  Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Great.  Okay,

          4  what type of ongoing training, if any, do HPD

          5  inspectors receive?  And are HPD inspectors

          6  generally trained to assess and identify when a

          7  violation may be really caused by an underlying

          8  condition that needs to be corrected?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  In

         10  order to be hired as inspectors, our staff meet

         11  minimum requirements, in terms of experience in the

         12  building construction trade.  In fact, before they

         13  even come in the door, there's a basic amount of

         14  training that they're required to have.  Once

         15  they're hired by HPD, there is an initial training

         16  session that goes on, and then there is ongoing

         17  training in the field.  Inspectors are paired with

         18  more experienced inspectors and there are

         19  supervisors who confirm that violations are in fact,

         20  in place.  So, we have a system in place to make

         21  sure that there is ongoing training.

         22                 As issues come up in the field, and

         23  there are changes in laws or regulations, we do

         24  ongoing training there, as well.  So, I would say

         25  we're very confident that our staff has an ability
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          2  to understand where the violations are coming from,

          3  and what the cause is.

          4                 In addition, as I said, it's not just

          5  one person who's going out to look at something.

          6  There is a team that would approach these buildings

          7  pretty substantially.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  So, I

          9  guess of all your housing and maintenance code

         10  programs, you anticipate this to be the most

         11  aggressive of all the programs?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  I

         13  would say, with the exception of the 7A Program,

         14  where we really, in the 7A Program, we actually go

         15  in and take control of a property and get a court

         16  appointed administrator to run the building in place

         17  of the owner.  That is the most aggressive.

         18                 The other program that is more

         19  aggressive than this is the Third Party Transfer

         20  Program, where we take ownership away from landlords

         21  who are running distressed properties.  So, again I

         22  think this fits into the enforcement world very

         23  nicely because it addresses, as Council Member James

         24  said, the recurring problems in a building.  But in

         25  fact, I would suggest that this is only addressing
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          2  those, it's not addressing the worst of the worst,

          3  which we have other programs to address and do that,

          4  I think, fairly well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay and finally,

          6  before we turn over to Council Member James, who

          7  will be followed by Council Member Comrie, who makes

          8  the determination as to the extent of the repairs of

          9  the underlying problems?  And who will estimate the

         10  cost of doing those repairs?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         12  Well, we would, our staff, as Deputy Commissioner

         13  Aragon was saying, our construction project managers

         14  will do the scope of work and determine what work

         15  needs to be done in the most effective way, to

         16  address the underlying conditions.  Assuming that

         17  the work is going to be performed under the auspices

         18  of HPD, we would bid out the work through a

         19  Construction Management company to get the work

         20  done.  And so that would be the estimate of the

         21  cost, there.  We would have some sense of what it is

         22  before then, through our in house technical staff.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  At this

         24  point I'd like to thank you for your answers and

         25  I'll turn it over to the bill sponsor, Council
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          2  Member James and again, will be followed by Council

          3  Member Comrie.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 First, let me publicly thank HPD for

          7  all the work it does in my district.  Thank you for

          8  your efforts with respect to Tivoli Towers, Ebbet's

          9  Field and the development of the Brick site. You

         10  have been very helpful and the constituents of the

         11  35th district appreciate all that you do.

         12                 Some have argued that this bill will

         13  result in an increase in the portfolio of HPD, that

         14  HPD will once again, get in the business of being a

         15  landlord.  What's your response to that?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         17  Well, these are not buildings that we would ever

         18  look to take ownership to.  Again, we run a Third

         19  Party Transfer Program that addresses the most

         20  seriously distressed buildings.  The idea here is to

         21  A, create an incentive for owners to make the

         22  repairs, and of course, be the back stop to step in

         23  if they don't.   I don't anticipate that this will

         24  be a situation where more buildings go through the

         25  Third Party Transfer Program.  But as I said in the
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          2  testimony, it's important for us to understand that

          3  this is the first time we've done this, and we're

          4  walking cautiously.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

          6  That's been a criticism that has been levied against

          7  my efforts and your cooperation, so I just thank you

          8  for that comment.

          9                 Those buildings that will be deemed

         10  economically infeasible where the owner refuses to

         11  make the repairs, what will happen in that

         12  situation?

         13                 FIST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         14  That's going to be a case by case.  We're really not

         15  sure what that's going to look like.  The idea when

         16  we were negotiating the bill was to be able to

         17  clearly address the variety of situations that come

         18  into place in this world, understanding that there

         19  may be situations, fires, structural problems,

         20  things like that, that need to be addressed, not

         21  through Alternative Enforcement, but through

         22  aggressive enforcement on the owner's side, whether

         23  it's through litigation or 7A, or one of the other

         24  programs that we run.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And who will
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          2  actually do the work?  Will it be done internally

          3  through your construction managers?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  If

          5  HPD is undertaken to do the work, we would be

          6  engaging with the construction management company

          7  which is a private company that would be doing the

          8  work on the City's behalf, and billing the owner.  COUNCIL

          9  MEMBER JAMES:  And if more than 200 buildings

         10  qualify in a given year, how will HPD prioritize

         11  those buildings?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         13  Again, we would look at the worst of the buildings,

         14  in terms of violation count, to address first.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.  And is

         16  there a budget? In your testimony, I believe you

         17  said that this would cost about $10 million in this

         18  Fiscal Year.  Is there a $10 million increase in

         19  your budget in this year?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         21  We've been negotiating with the Office of Management

         22  and Budget on how that goes into place, and we're

         23  still working on funding source and that type of

         24  work.  And of course, the bill wouldn't go into

         25  effect until next year, so we expect that would be
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          2  in place at the appropriate time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  However I can

          4  be helpful and/or I'm certain the Chair of this

          5  Committee, we would be more than willing to support

          6  you in that effort to increase your budget line.

          7  Right Mr. Chair?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Council Member

          9  James has the floor.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And I believe

         11  those are all of my questions.

         12                 Again, let me thank you publicly for

         13  all that you do on behalf of the residents of the

         14  City of New York.  Thank you.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         16  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Now naturally, we

         18  would want to fund them for legislation that we do

         19  pass.  I would say yes, Council Member James.  I am

         20  in support.

         21                 Council Member Comrie?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Good

         23  afternoon.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I want to

         24  congratulate you for your efforts on this bill and

         25  working with Council Member James and the Speaker's

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDING

          2  staff and HPD regarding putting this bill together.

          3                 Could you detail your collaborations

          4  in the effort to bring this bill together?   I don't

          5  think you spoke about that in your testimony.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

          7  Well, we have been working very closely with the

          8  Council staff on developing the concept for the bill

          9  initially, and then ultimately we work very, very

         10  closely with them in coming up with the criteria to

         11  determine what buildings would be eligible for the

         12  program.  I think that kind of was an intense

         13  negotiation that took place over the course of

         14  months, and we came up with something that hopefully

         15  will work very well.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Did you talk

         17  to the Housing advocates or the Housing interests as

         18  far as the basic framework at a particular bill

         19  also?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  We

         21  talked and listened to an awful lot of people in

         22  developing this bill.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  Did

         24  you have any type of meeting or hearing or open

         25  discussion to deal with any of the problems that may
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          2  come up from the bill?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

          4  Other than the hearing right now, there were just

          5  discussion, there were some meetings with our staff

          6  and some of the advocates, some other calls, as

          7  well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  HPD's

          9  maintenance staff has an in house capability of

         10  doing the type of structural repairs that this bill

         11  requires?  Or are you going to have to bolster your

         12  in house staff?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         14  The staff that we'll be hiring would be construction

         15  project managers who don't physically do the work

         16  themselves, but would oversee the work that's

         17  performed.  We would use construction managers,

         18  private companies who would oversee the work and bid

         19  it out and engage contractors to do it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Are these

         21  private companies, companies that have what type of

         22  history with HPD?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  We

         24  have used construction management firms in HPD for

         25  the last 20 years to do work, particularly in the
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          2  Tenant Interim Lease Program.  And it's a model

          3  that's proven very effective for us in getting the

          4  work done in an efficient and effective way.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  But you're

          6  talking about the construction managers.  I'm

          7  actually talking about the construction companies.

          8  How are you going to ensure that these companies

          9  have a level of proficiency and excellence before

         10  they come in to work on a building?

         11                 Let me get to my primary concern.

         12  What are we going to do to make sure that the people

         13  that are actually doing the work have the

         14  proficiency to do the work, so that they don't have

         15  to come back?  That you're using either unionized

         16  laborers or people that have a level of construction

         17  satisfaction qualification to ensure that you don't

         18  have to again, go back and re- spend money?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         20  Any contractors who are doing this work have to meet

         21  our responsibility guidelines to make sure that

         22  they, in fact, have the capabilities to do the work

         23  effectively.  We do not take this lightly, that we

         24  are performing work in privately owned buildings.

         25  That is a serious thing for us, and we do not expect
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          2  it to be done in any kind of way, other than the

          3  highest possible quality.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So, you have

          5  an ability now to discern and filter those companies

          6  that will be doing that particular work?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  We

          8  have a lot of experience at HPD doing work on many

          9  different scales.  Most people know our work on the

         10  largest scale, the rehab and new construction work

         11  that we do mostly through RFPs and that kind of

         12  stuff. Our ERP program does a tremendous amount of

         13  work every year in very small jobs.  This is a

         14  medium size work product that is most analogous to

         15  the till work that I talked about.  So, in fact, we

         16  have a tremendous amount of experience in doing this

         17  kind of work and I'm confident that we can do it

         18  very effectively.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  I just

         20  wanted to get that out.

         21                 I'm concerned, and not that I have a

         22  particular problem to reference, but with all of the

         23  work that's going on in the City and all the

         24  construction work, to make sure that we raise the

         25  level of quality, especially if the City is going to
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          2  be responsible visa vie at the end of the line one

          3  way or the other. Because now you're talking about

          4  the City going into a private building that the

          5  landlord has aggregated their responsibility to a

          6  degree.  I'm just concerned that once the work is

          7  done that the work can be done in a way that is not

          8  questioned and cannot be damaged immediately.

          9  Because we're going to be spending City dollars in

         10  private buildings.

         11                 And also I'm concerned cuz (sic.) I'm

         12  not again not casting any problems or specifics on

         13  any specific projects that I'm aware of, but it's

         14  just that as we move into another level of

         15  construction repair and protection of consumers, we

         16  also need to make sure that the quality of the work

         17  keeps a certain level with all of the reconstruction

         18  that's being done in the City.

         19                 Unfortunately, I represent a district

         20  where a lot of these day laborers are.  And a lot of

         21  these companies are grabbing day laborers to do this

         22  particular work.  So, I'm concerned about the

         23  ability of the actual work force to do a thorough

         24  and complete job.  And I think that as HPD moves

         25  into this, I think you're going to find a need to
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          2  ensure the qualifications of every person on the

          3  particular job.

          4                 I know that you've done a good job so

          5  far, and I want to thank you for, as Council Member

          6  James did, about your work on Hollis Park Gardens

          7  and the other buildings in my district, as well,

          8  which I won't name.  I don't have as many, but I do

          9  have some landlords that are problematic.

         10                 What do you do with a landlord that

         11  has, you talked about being economically infeasible,

         12  what if you run into a landlord that really is

         13  financially incapable and that work has not been

         14  done?  Are you going to put that person in the 200

         15  or are you going to come up with another program to

         16  try to get them back on a financial footing?

         17  Because it's probably a gray haired person with a

         18  beard and they don't have a new income and they're

         19  running into a structural deficiency in that they

         20  can't maintain the building anymore.  And because of

         21  the series of factors, they're just economically or

         22  financially unable to make the repairs.  What kind

         23  of programs will HPD do for that particular person?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         25  Well, Council member, we have carrots and sticks
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          2  right in all of our enforcement and rehab programs.

          3  So, in fact, if we come in and see that the work

          4  needs to be done, we're going to make sure that the

          5  work gets done, if the owner works with us

          6  cooperatively and says I've got financial

          7  difficulties, I'm going to open my books and show

          8  you what's going on and I really need your help, we

          9  have loan programs and other assistance available to

         10  make sure that we can get their buildings up and

         11  running.  And if they own more than one building,

         12  it's also an opportunity for us to look at their

         13  whole portfolio and see if we can't make

         14  improvements there, as well.

         15                 So, I think we're sensitive about

         16  that issue, but in fact, financial hardship is not a

         17  reason for us not to do this work, so we would

         18  anticipate doing it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  And

         20  how are you going to recoup the money once it's out

         21  laid.  Is there a process for recoupment?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         23  Sure.  It's ultimately, it would be a tax lien.  It

         24  would be the equivalent of a tax lien, so we would

         25  expect to get the money back through the Department
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          2  of Finance.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Sooner or

          4  later.  Okay.

          5                 I want to again, congratulate Council

          6  Member James for working with all of the parties to

          7  bring this program together and I hope that as HPD

          8  develops this program, that they do listen to their

          9  local housing advocates in the community about what

         10  those worse 200 buildings are.

         11                 Just as a secondary question, how

         12  many 7A procedures have been done within the last 12

         13  months?  Is 7A still an active program?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:  7A

         15  is an active program.  I don't have that number

         16  right off the top of my head. We do have about 50

         17  buildings in the program right now.  In fact, given

         18  the real estate market that it is, most of the time

         19  buildings do not come in.  Owners, in fact, sign

         20  orders of consent to do the repair we monitor that

         21  work.  But that's not to say we're not active in

         22  bringing cases.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 I just wanted to throw those

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDING

          2  questions out for thought to help improve the

          3  program.  I think it's a good idea and to work with

          4  the program and being sensitive about some landlords

          5  who may really have a crisis on their hands and have

          6  not opened up and shared, unfortunately as I looked

          7  at it, there are some people that don't tell you

          8  what's going on until it's too late.  So, hopefully

          9  there is a mechanism to work with them, as well.

         10                 Some landlords, as I've found, while

         11  they have good intentions, they have no

         12  administration management either.  And this could be

         13  an opportunity for the City to step in and help them

         14  with their administrating of the properties.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         16  Sure, and that's why we have the training component

         17  in the program specifically to address that issue.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right.  Thank

         19  you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you,

         21  Council Member Comrie.  I also want to acknowledge

         22  that we've been joined by Council Member Tom White

         23  of Queens and Council Member Dennis Gallagher of

         24  Queens.

         25                 I just had one follow up and I'm not
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          2  sure if any of my other colleagues have any

          3  questions.

          4                 For owners who are, I guess, that

          5  have to make repairs, do they naturally receive the

          6  right to make the repairs on their own before HPD

          7  comes in?  Does that still exist under this program?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

          9  Absolutely. Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  How much time

         11  goes by between that point and then the point where

         12  HPD has to make a decision to come in and do the

         13  repairs on their own?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         15  They've got an initial four month period in which

         16  they can make the repairs and not be deemed part of

         17  the program.  And that is the first time period in

         18  which the owners can make the repairs and move on

         19  from there.

         20                 There are also in the beginning of

         21  the program, before HPD goes into start the work,

         22  they are still in a position to make the repairs and

         23  we will just monitor the work to make sure it's done

         24  properly.  So, the owner has a lot of time to make

         25  the repairs before we step in and do it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Just to

          4  Council Member Comrie, to let him know that most of

          5  the advocates help negotiate this bill and are all

          6  in support of this bill.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I was about to do

          8  that before I closed the questioning but it's not

          9  only advocates, but representatives from the real

         10  estate industry and as well as housing advocates,

         11  the Council, and I was under the impression that the

         12  administration had agreed and they said they have

         13  agreed but I will just suggest to Mr. Warren to

         14  reach out to Committee staff for the two items that

         15  he's looking to amend in the legislation, because we

         16  will look to go to final passage pretty shortly.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         18  Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

         20                 With that, we'll call up our first

         21  public panel and we'd like to thank HPD for coming

         22  and testifying today.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Mr. Chair, I

         24  actually knew all of that, I just wanted Mr. Deputy

         25  Commissioner Warren to say it for the record.  He
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          2  wasn't promoting the fact that they did all this

          3  good collaboration.  He was just trying to take the

          4  ball himself.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  That was an

          6  opportunity.

          7                 The first panel we will call up is

          8  Mr. Christopher Schwartz from MYF Legal Services,

          9  Dave Hanzel from ANHD, Ericka Stallings from the New

         10  York Immigration Coalition and Ray Brescia from the

         11  Urban Justice Center.

         12                 If you have any testimony for the

         13  Committee, please hand it to the Sergeant- at- Arms

         14  and they will distribute it to the rest of the

         15  members.

         16                 Okay, generally the rule I have, if

         17  anybody's been watching my hearings for the past

         18  year and a half is we give prerogative to the ladies

         19  to testify first, and being that there's only one

         20  female on the panel, we will extend that prerogative

         21  to her and then the gentlemen can decide amongst

         22  themselves as to who will testify next.

         23                 And if you could, just before you

         24  begin, identify yourself for the record and then you

         25  can go right into your testimony.
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          2                 MS. STALLINGS:  Good afternoon.  My

          3  name is Ericka Stallings.  I'm from the New York

          4  Immigration Coalition.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  And if you could

          6  just bring the mic a little closer and lower.

          7                 MS. STALLINGS:  Surely.  I'd like to

          8  thank the Committee on Housing and Buildings, as

          9  well as the members of the City council, for

         10  allowing our organization to testify at this hearing

         11  on code enforcement.

         12                 As I said, my name is Ericka

         13  Stallings and I'm the Housing Advocacy Associate of

         14  the New York Immigration Coalition, a policy and

         15  advocacy organization with more than 200 members

         16  throughout New York State, that work with immigrant

         17  communities.

         18                 We are very pleased that legislation

         19  has been introduced to strengthen New York City's

         20  Housing code enforcement system.  We would like to

         21  express our appreciation to Council Member James for

         22  sponsoring the Safe Housing Act, as well as to

         23  Speaker Quinn and other council members who have

         24  supported the legislation.  This is an important and

         25  welcome effort to protect New York City's tenants.
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          2                 Poor housing conditions resulting

          3  from negligent property management is a problem that

          4  disproportionately affects immigrant New Yorkers.

          5  Immigrants who are limited English proficient, are

          6  particularly vulnerable, as they often have

          7  difficulty accessing City housing services and on

          8  average, have lower incomes than other City

          9  residents.  Low income immigrants generally have

         10  very limited housing options, which too often causes

         11  immigrant families to live in sub standard

         12  conditions.

         13                 The 2005 Housing and Vacancy service

         14  indicates that while the City's median rent has

         15  increased 8.3 percent, the median income has

         16  actually decreased 6.3 percent.  The lack of housing

         17  in the City that is both safe and affordable to low

         18  income families, places immigrants, in particular,

         19  at risk, because they make up two thirds of the

         20  City's low wage workers.

         21                 As a result, New York's immigrant

         22  renters are 62 percent more likely to live in

         23  dangerous housing conditions and are three times as

         24  likely to live in over crowded conditions, than

         25  native born residents, according to a recent study
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          2  by our organization and the Urban Justice Center.

          3                 Many immigrants are unaware of their

          4  rights and often find it prohibitively difficult to

          5  access the City's Housing Services because of a lack

          6  of outreach in their own languages.

          7                 Consequently, many immigrants are

          8  vulnerable to disreputable landlords, as they're

          9  often unable to report violations or otherwise

         10  advocate for themselves when housing violations

         11  occur.    Immigrant tenants are frequently targets

         12  for abuse and discrimination by landlords who prey

         13  on this vulnerability.

         14                 The Safe Housing Act is one step in

         15  the right direction of correcting the problems of

         16  unsafe and sub standard housing conditions.  The

         17  legislation which targets the City's worst 200

         18  buildings, provides additional dis-incentives for

         19  landlords who abandon their properties and the

         20  tenants who live in them.

         21                 The Safe Housing Act will require

         22  landlords to correct violations and if they fail to

         23  do so, authorizes HPD to make the repairs, and

         24  charge the landlord for the cost of those repairs.

         25                 Immigrant tenants report living with

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDING

          2  insecure front doors, rats, roaches, bed bugs and

          3  mold.  Some tenants have lived for years without

          4  adequate heat and hot water.  These conditions have

          5  contributed to a host of health problems, such as

          6  asthma attacks.  Yet complaints in many cases

          7  results only in continued inaction on the part of

          8  landlords and managing agents.

          9                 This new legislation will provide

         10  real consequences for landlords who ignore

         11  violations and fail in their duty to protect the

         12  properties, and in keeping them in safe and in good

         13  condition.

         14                 The Safe Housing Act will allow HPD

         15  to closely scrutinize the worst landlords, ensuring

         16  the repairs are made using acceptable workmanship

         17  and addresses problems at the source, rather than

         18  superficially.

         19                 We urge the City council to support

         20  efforts to reform the City's Code Enforcement

         21  System, by continuing efforts to outreach to

         22  immigrant communities and passing Intro 561, the

         23  Safe Housing Act, to ensure that dangerous housing

         24  violations, which jeopardize the health and safety

         25  of tenants, are resolved once and for all.  Thank

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDING

          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Good afternoon,

          5  members of the Committee.  Thank you for inviting us

          6  to speak with you about the proposed local law.  My

          7  name is Christopher Schwartz and I'm a supervising

          8  attorney with MFY Legal Services with the

          9  Neighborhood Preservation Project.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  And if you

         11  could bring the microphone a little closer, so that

         12  we can get you on the record.

         13                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Sure.  Is that

         14  better?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Much better.

         16                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  MFY's Neighborhood

         17  Preservation Project has served the City's low

         18  income tenants for decades through legal

         19  representation advocacy and tenant organizing.  One

         20  of the most vital areas in which we provide services

         21  to tenants is the never-ending quest to compel

         22  landlords of low-income units to maintain them in

         23  accordance with the Housing Maintenance Code, is an

         24  undeniable fact that landlords in rent-stabilized

         25  and rent-controlled housing are less willing to
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          2  spend money for repairs and maintenance on the

          3  tenants with the least income, and that the

          4  cumulative effect of such neglect is to force the

          5  tenants to choose between either abandoning their

          6  affordable housing, or to bear for years on end,

          7  conditions which are not only illegal, but which

          8  many of us would consider practically unlivable.

          9                 When one considers the ever growing

         10  need of providing the people of New York with

         11  affordable housing, it becomes readily apparent that

         12  the maintenance of existing housing in habitable

         13  condition must be a top priority for us all.

         14                 The Alternative Enforcement Program

         15  is a step in the right direction for the

         16  Preservation of Affordable Housing.  While it is

         17  necessarily small in scope, it emphasizes the

         18  importance of inspection, reinspection and

         19  monitoring buildings in crisis, so that the impact

         20  of false certifications are minimized, and that the

         21  owners of selected housing stock are made certain

         22  that they may no longer act, or fail to act, with

         23  impunity.

         24                 The program appears to focus on the

         25  worst of the worst housing stock in the City.  The
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          2  buildings sought must have many open violations of

          3  the most severe class, as well as unpaid fines in

          4  emergency repair charges stemming from these

          5  violations.              The owners of these

          6  buildings will be notified by HPD and given time to

          7  effect repairs and pay off any outstanding charges

          8  and liens to HPD.  After the owners represent that

          9  all the outstanding repairs have been completed, HPD

         10  will reinspect the premises to ensure that the work

         11  has been done, possible completing any remaining

         12  repairs at the owner's expense.  Throughout the

         13  process, HPD will monitor the selected buildings in

         14  order to ensure their owners comply with the

         15  requirements of the program.

         16                 Such strong enforcement and

         17  monitoring of the City's affordable housing stock is

         18  absolutely necessary.  However, the fact that there

         19  exists buildings with many multiple immediately

         20  hazardous violations that have been open in some

         21  cases for a period of years, speaks to the necessity

         22  of providing increased resources for the purpose of

         23  maintaining housing in habitable condition, not only

         24  in the very limited scope of this program, but for

         25  all housing stock City- wide.
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          2                 In short, the process of inspection,

          3  re- inspection, continuous monitoring, and

          4  performing repairs where an owner won't, shouldn't

          5  be considered alternative enforcement.  Rather it

          6  should be the standard and the norm in extent to all

          7  housing, and thereby wake up owners who have been

          8  reluctant to maintain their rent regulated property.

          9

         10                 The Department of Housing has

         11  historically existed in large part to protect the

         12  current stock of affordable housing. Tenants rely on

         13  HPD to take their complaints, inspect their

         14  apartments and buildings, and place and enforce

         15  violations of the code where they are found.

         16                 The problem with this scheme is that

         17  far too many landlords have ignored HPD violations

         18  for years on end. Furthermore, landlords are able to

         19  certify on their own if violations have been

         20  addressed and re- inspections by HPD may be

         21  extensively delayed, due to budget and personnel

         22  limitations.  We would therefore also suggest that

         23  HPD be given more resources to devote to the many

         24  buildings that will not be selected for the AEP, but

         25  which are well on the road to neglect.
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          2                 On behalf of MFY Legal Services, I

          3  thank you for your invitation to testify and voice

          4  our support of the program.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  We thank you.

          6                 MR. HANZEL:  Good afternoon.  Thank

          7  you, Chairman Dilan and Committee members for this

          8  opportunity to testify in favor of Intro 561, the

          9  Safe Housing Act, which will further enhance New

         10  York City's code enforcement efforts.

         11                 My name is Dave Hanzel and I'm the

         12  Policy Director for the Association for Neighborhood

         13  and Housing Development.  Some Committee members may

         14  be familiar with ANHD, and most certainly know one

         15  or more of our 90 members.

         16                 New York City tenants lodge almost

         17  600,000 complaints about maintenance conditions in

         18  their apartments each year.  And there remain almost

         19  2.8 million open code violations known to the City's

         20  Department of Housing Preservation and Development.

         21                 According to the Furman Center for

         22  Real Estate and Urban Policy, the number of serious

         23  code violations per 1,000 rental units in the City,

         24  jump from 38.1 in 2002 to 57.8 last year.

         25                 Furthermore, according to the most
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          2  recent census survey, over 75,000 apartments were

          3  severely distressed, with five or more hazardous

          4  maintenance violations.  While many of these

          5  conditions are meant to harass and displace rent

          6  stabilized tenants, the majority of the repairs go

          7  uncorrected due to the City's inability to follow up

          8  on violations or assess fines.

          9                 ANHD working with City council and

         10  HPD, created the Targeted Cyclical Enforcement

         11  Program, or TCEP in 2005, to pro actively identify

         12  buildings in poor condition, conduct roof to cellar

         13  inspections, and provide follow up, to ensure

         14  landlords make necessary repairs.

         15                 In TCEP's first year, HPD completed

         16  comprehensive inspections in 270 buildings,

         17  representing 4,697 units, in 12 out of the 51

         18  Council districts.  Remarkably, 14,634 new

         19  violations, or 3.1 violations per unit, were

         20  identified.

         21                 More importantly, by entering into

         22  voluntary repair agreements with landlords, who

         23  express their willingness to make repairs, or by

         24  initiating litigation against negligent landlords,

         25  HPD has begun to send the right message to
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          2  landlords.  We will hold you accountable for

          3  correcting violations and will require you to

          4  provide quality housing to all of New York City's

          5  residents.

          6                 During the first year, 23 percent of

          7  landlords in TCEP inspected buildings, were sent to

          8  litigation.  19 percent of landlords signed VRAs and

          9  54 percent of landlords received HPD assistance to

         10  certify violations.

         11                 We thank the Council for allocating

         12  $300 thousand in its Fiscal Year 2007 expense budget

         13  for TCEP expansion.  With this new money, TCEP will

         14  be able to serve six additional council districts a

         15  year, representing 2,400 more units.

         16                 The TCEP Program has shown that

         17  improving housing conditions is possible, if

         18  sufficient resources are committed, if the efforts

         19  of the Council, HPD and neighborhood groups are

         20  coordinated, and if landlords recognize that follow

         21  up will occur.

         22                 ANHD thanks Speaker Quinn and Council

         23  Members Dilan and James, along with HPD, for

         24  expanding the City's commitment to code enforcement

         25  through the introduction of the Safe Housing Act.
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          2  ANHD believes that Intro 561 will build on the

          3  success of the TCEP program and will bring about

          4  repairs and 200 additional residential buildings,

          5  buildings suffering from the most egregious safety

          6  violations.

          7                 This $10 million multi year

          8  initiative will go a long way to ensuring New York's

          9  low and moderate income households enjoy safe and

         10  decent housing.  ANHD supports passage of Intro 561,

         11  the Safe Housing Act.  I thank you for the

         12  opportunity and would be happy to take questions.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  We'll take the

         15  questions at the end of everyone's testimony on the

         16  panel.  I believe there's one more member that has

         17  testimony.

         18                 MR. BRESCIA:  Yes, good afternoon,

         19  Chair Dilan. Thank you.  My name is Ray Brescia with

         20  the Urban Justice Center. I want to identify myself.

         21    I'm sorry Council Member Comrie left. I was one of

         22  the advocates who helped in the negotiating of the

         23  bill and I can say we were in the room with Council

         24  staff, Speaker staff and Council Member James'

         25  staff, who they all felt attacked from all sides.
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          2  But I think that the bill, as you'll see, I

          3  definitely support the bill.

          4                 I'm the Associate Director of the

          5  Urban Justice Center.  We provide free legal

          6  assistance to low income and working poor families

          7  from throughout the City.  We're also a member of

          8  the Legal Services for the Working Poor Coalition.

          9  Substantial percentage of the work of that coalition

         10  is the provision of free legal assistance to

         11  tenants, to obtain housing repairs and avoid

         12  eviction.

         13                 As someone who has, for the last 15

         14  years, represented tenants in housing court for

         15  enforcement of the housing maintenance code, let me

         16  express my unconditional support for the passage of

         17  Intro 561.  The Act will provide the City's

         18  Department of Housing Preservation and Development

         19  with the authority it needs to ensure that the worst

         20  conditions and the worst buildings are fixed.  The

         21  powers the act authorized, if properly wielded by

         22  HPD, will make it clear to the landlords of these

         23  buildings that if they do not clean up their act,

         24  HPD will make the repairs itself and saddle those

         25  landlords with the bill.
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          2                 While I can talk at length about how

          3  important those heightened powers are, I would like

          4  to spend my time this afternoon highlighting the

          5  fact that the act is not only sound policy, in terms

          6  of promoting safe housing, it is also a highly

          7  effective strategy for preserving affordable

          8  housing.

          9                 As you all know, New York City has

         10  one of the most complex rent regulatory structures

         11  in the country, if not the world.  When functioning

         12  properly, it helps to hold down rents and keep them

         13  affordable for low income and working families.

         14  According to the rent laws, however, when an

         15  apartment becomes vacant, a landlord can claim

         16  extensive renovations and tack a percentage of the

         17  costs of those renovations on to the legally

         18  collectable rent.  When one adds this surcharge to

         19  the 20 percent vacancy increase the landlord can

         20  take for a new two year lease and those additional

         21  charges raise the rent to over $2,000 a month, that

         22  apartment becomes deregulated forever and subject to

         23  the vagaries of the City's robust and merciless

         24  market.

         25                 Given this incentive structure, if
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          2  the landlord wants to obtain significant rent

          3  increase, all he or she needs to do is get current

          4  tenants to vacate their apartments.   An all too

          5  common tactic of such landlords, is to allow the

          6  condition of the housing stock to deteriorate to

          7  such a point that the tenants fear for their safety

          8  and that of their families, and must seek other

          9  housing options, including seeking space in a public

         10  shelter or doubling or tripling up with friends or

         11  family.

         12                 As a result of these perverse

         13  incentives, as conditions deteriorate, tenants are

         14  more likely to leave.  And I cannot tell you how

         15  many times my clients have told me, that when they

         16  raise concerns about the conditions in their

         17  apartments, their landlords have retorted, you don't

         18  like it, leave.

         19                 In no uncertain terms, Intro 561 can

         20  start to release some of the pressures on tenants in

         21  the worst buildings, so they can stay in their homes

         22  and their rent regulated rents can be preserved.

         23                 Annexed to this testimony is a map

         24  generated by the firm and center for Real Estate and

         25  Urban Policy at NYU, which highlights the
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          2  neighborhoods with the most serious violations. This

          3  is a map we all know too well.

          4                 The neighborhoods with the worst

          5  housing conditions are also the neighborhoods

          6  populated by the City's poor and working poor, from

          7  which the residents of the City shelters most

          8  frequently come, and where the highest childhood

          9  asthma rates can be found. They are also the

         10  neighborhoods experiencing serious stress from

         11  gentrification with aggressive landlords seeking to

         12  ride the housing wave that has reached virtually

         13  every corner of this City.

         14                 Over the next five years, Intro 561

         15  will empower HPD to go into one thousand of the

         16  City's worst buildings in the neighborhoods with the

         17  worst housing conditions and get the repairs done,

         18  whether the landlord or HPD makes them.  Should HPD

         19  make the repairs, the cost to the City will be

         20  passed on to the landlord in the form of a lien,

         21  which can be foreclosed on, should the landlord not

         22  satisfy it.

         23                 Yet even if HPD does not recover the

         24  monies it expends, I certainly hope it will be

         25  aggressive about doing so. The cost to the City of
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          2  renovating these buildings and maintaining the rent

          3  regulated status of those units because the tenants

          4  will remained housed will be far less than the cost

          5  of building new affordable housing.  Indeed, the

          6  cost of constructing a single unit of affordable

          7  housing is approximately $400 thousand.  The cost of

          8  preserving a unit of existing affordable housing

          9  stock will be a mere fraction, at most, perhaps 10

         10  percent of the cost of new construction, even for

         11  major rehabilitation work.

         12                 For buildings requiring less than gut

         13  rehabilitation, the cost will literally be pennies

         14  on the dollar. With the Bloomberg administration

         15  committing literally billions for the construction

         16  of affordable housing over the next five years,

         17  which I applaud, Intro 561 is still a far less

         18  costly method for preserving what affordable housing

         19  we still have.  When you add in the fact that the

         20  cost of the repairs in question is passed onto the

         21  landlords who have let their buildings deteriorate,

         22  Intro 561 makes clear Fiscal and moral sense.

         23                 Others speaking today have spoken,

         24  and those who will speak, have and will, extol the

         25  virtues of Intro 561 as sound housing policy in
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          2  terms of the preservation of decent, safe and

          3  sanitary housing in this City.

          4                 It is respectfully submitted that the

          5  wisdom of Intro 561 as an affordable housing

          6  strategy is also readily apparent.  And it's for all

          7  these reasons that I support its passage by the

          8  Council wholeheartedly, and without reservation.

          9                 Thank you all for your hard work on

         10  this important legislation, and I look forward to it

         11  becoming law and working with the Council and HPD to

         12  ensure its effective enforcement.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  So far I

         14  have Council Member Fidler for a question, and I'm

         15  not sure if Council Member James will be followed by

         16  Council Member Fidler.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 Mr, Hanzel, it may not be the most

         20  important question, but I'm just kind of curious.

         21  You said that in the TCEP program, 23 percent of the

         22  landlords went to litigation, 19 percent signed VRAs

         23  and 54 percent received HPD assistance.  That leaves

         24  out four percent, what happened to the other four

         25  percent?
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          2                 MR. HANZEL:  The other four percent

          3  were sent to other agencies, whether it's, I'm not

          4  exactly sure why, but I could find out and let you

          5  know.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I just am

          7  curious, I mean because four percent is a small

          8  statistical percentage, but still represents a large

          9  number of units, and I was just kind of curious

         10  whether or not there was a way to, if something was

         11  being lost because the TCEP program couldn't deal

         12  with it or something was slipping out of the system.

         13                 MR. HANZEL:  It may have been because

         14   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Mr. Hanzel, if

         16  you could speak more directly into the mic because

         17  we're recording the proceedings. We want your

         18  answers to be on the record.

         19                 MR. HANZEL:  It may also have been

         20  because if the particular property had already had

         21  litigation levied against it, whether because of

         22  through the Department of Buildings, the didn't want

         23  to start another legal case.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Council Member

         25  James?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I just want to

          3  thank all the advocates and how do you envision the

          4  advocates working with the elected officials and HPD

          5  to identify all of these buildings?  How do you see

          6  this process happening?

          7                 MR. HANZEL:  I think it starts with

          8  311, because HPD is going to look at the violation

          9  counts, existing violation counts of buildings when

         10  the legislation kicks in, they're going to look at

         11  what's on record now.  I think that that's going to

         12  be a backward look for this first year, but I think

         13  over the next year since the triggers are violation

         14  counts and emergency repairs, I think we have to

         15  make sure that HPD is still doing the inspections

         16  that are triggered by 311 and is still doing

         17  emergency repairs since that's going to be what they

         18  take into account when determining what are the

         19  worst buildings.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And will the

         21  advocates have independent information that could

         22  provide backup or if there are some buildings that

         23  we know of and I guess the offices of the City

         24  council that are not really reflected in the 311

         25  documents.  Are there any additional independent
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          2  data that would assist in identifying some of these

          3  distressed buildings?

          4                 MR. HANZEL:  As the legislation is

          5  currently drafted, its existing violations and

          6  existing emergency repairs. So I think we need to

          7  use the legislation as currently drafted, we have to

          8  be vigilant about making sure inspections happen and

          9  making sure emergency repairs are still moving

         10  forward.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And Mr.

         12  Brescia, I see in your map, the map of Brooklyn

         13  where I hail from, and it speaks to and confirms the

         14  testimony of Ms. Stallings, that most of the

         15  violations for the most part are in central and

         16  north Brooklyn, with a vast majority of people of

         17  color and immigrants live and low income families.

         18                 And so, I look forward to working

         19  with the advocate community to identify those

         20  distress buildings to turn this blotted area into an

         21  area where the serious violations no longer exist

         22  and/or are lessened.

         23                 MR. BRESCIA:  I think it's also a

         24  civil right's legislation, frankly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  You're
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          2  absolutely right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Council Member

          4  James ever so subtly reminded me at the press

          5  conference of this bill, that most of the violations

          6  did happen in the Chairman's district.

          7                 With that, we'd like to thank the

          8  panel for coming in and providing testimony today.

          9  And we will call our next panel.

         10                 The next is Louisa Olivares from Make

         11  the Road by Walking, and please forgive me if I

         12  pronounce this wrong, Anderson Fils-Aime from Pratt

         13  Area Community Council.  Fils-Aime, you can correct

         14  me on the record.  And correct me again if I get

         15  this one wrong, it looks like Mahbub Talukdar.

         16  Please correct me on the record again, if needed,

         17  and Damon Rhodes from the Pratt Area Community

         18  Council, and also signed up as a beneficiary of the

         19  TCEP program.

         20                 And as usual, we'll give the

         21  prerogative to the only lady on the panel and then

         22  the gentlemen can fend for themselves as to which

         23  order they want to testify next.  And if anyone has

         24  any written testimony for the members, they can

         25  please give it to the Sergeant- at- Arms.
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          2                 And Ms. Olivares you can begin.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  You have to turn

          4  on the mic and just state your name for the record

          5  before you get into your testimony.

          6                 MS. OLIVARES:  Good afternoon.  My

          7  name is Louisa Olivares.  I'm here today.  Thank you

          8  for giving me the opportunity to testify here today.

          9                 I am a member of Make the Road by

         10  Walking.  Most of our members live in Bushwick,

         11  Brooklyn.

         12                 I'm here today because the problem of

         13  bad building conditions.  The housing is getting

         14  worse all over New York City. The number of serious

         15  code violations per 1,000 rental units in New York

         16  City increased from 38 in 2002 to 57 in 2006.

         17                 Bushwick has the highest number of

         18  serious violations.  There are 297 violations per

         19  1,000 rental units.  It can take a long time to get

         20  repairs in housing court.  The Safe Housing Act will

         21  ensure the tenants living in the worst buildings in

         22  the City will not have to wait any longer for safe

         23  and healthy living conditions.

         24                 I would like to read the testimony of

         25  two other members of Make the Road by Walking who
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          2  could not be here today. The first one is from

          3  Alicia Venetas (phonetic) who lives at 515 Wilson

          4  Avenue in Brooklyn.

          5                 My name is Alicia Venetas.  I live at

          6  515 Wilson Avenue Apartment 3L in Brooklyn for ten

          7  years.  There are 263 violations on file all over.

          8  4,000 of unpaid emergency repair charges on my

          9  building.  That's just one on the books.

         10                 In 1999, I began to have major mold

         11  problems in my apartment.  I started with mold in my

         12  bedroom and in my kitchen. There is black mold all

         13  over the walls in  my kitchen and on the table and

         14  around the stove.  Now it has also spread to the

         15  hallway and one side of the living room.

         16                 There have been problems with the

         17  roof leaking since 2005.  Every time it rains, I

         18  don't sleep because I have to run around wiping up

         19  the water and putting containers on the leaks. After

         20  the last Nor'easter weather, I filled 52 liter

         21  bottles of coke catching water, catching leaks

         22  around the apartment.  Now there is water coming out

         23  of the tiny fixtures in the wall.  It's very

         24  alarming to see water coming out because you can't

         25  catch that. I have to keep all my newspapers and
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          2  thick letters to use them to wipe up the water.

          3                 Tenants from my building have been

          4  calling 311 consistently for years.  We thought the

          5  City would come up and make repairs, but instead

          6  they just gave the landlord another chance. The

          7  landlords act like they were going to make repairs,

          8  but haven't done anything.  Every time we call the

          9  landlord, they say tomorrow, tomorrow.   So far the

         10  City has not come and made repairs in my apartment.

         11                 We've been trying to make a lot of

         12  repairs on our own.  I urge the City, the City

         13  council to pass Intro 561, the Safe Housing Act, as

         14  soon as possible, so that we don't have to live in

         15  this horrible conditions anymore.  Thank you.

         16                 The second testimony I have is from

         17  Michelle Mint (phonetic) who lives at 527

         18  Knickerbocker Avenue.

         19                 My name is Michelle Mint and I live

         20  at 527 Knickerbocker Avenue which will be covered

         21  under the new law.  The building we live in is in a

         22  dump.  My partner and I live with our children ages

         23  two, eight and eleven and a fifteen year old have

         24  lived here since 2005.  We have no heat for most of

         25  that time.  We just got some heat.  Our windows are
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          2  broken.  There's no electricity in most of the

          3  building.  The steps are broken.  I have to

          4  supervise my kids just to walk down the stairs

          5  because there are nails sticking out all over the

          6  place.

          7                 There are major leaks all over the

          8  building.  The basement has been flooded for weeks.

          9  We had three fires in the building in the basement

         10  in the past year because the front door of the

         11  building, that's not working.  So people come from

         12  outside into the basement to use drugs.  The door to

         13  the roof is broken too.  We can't even use the front

         14  door of my apartment because it is broken. If you

         15  open it the wrong way, it might fall off.  So we use

         16  the door in my bedroom as the front door.  I myself

         17  bought six new doorknobs and locks and tried to fix

         18  it.  But the whole door needs to be replaced.

         19                 I would like to see the Council pass

         20  the Safe Housing Act as soon as possible so that my

         21  children don't have to live like this anymore.

         22                 I love my apartment in Brooklyn.

         23  It's just not fixed properly.  If someone could come

         24  in and do the proper repairs, like putting in new

         25  windows, fixing the holes in the floors, fixing the
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          2  front doors, the hallways.  If they would just do

          3  that and fix the holes, the common area is just good

          4  enough like that.

          5                 You have heard the testimonies of

          6  these two people. Please pass this bill as quick as

          7  possible, and thank you for allowing me to be here

          8  to testify for them today.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

         10                 You should wait until the panel is

         11  done just in case any members have questions.

         12                 MR. TALUKDAR:  Thank you very much.

         13  My name is Mahbub Talukdar.  I'm a tenant living in

         14  1231 Sheridan Avenue, Bronx since 1982.  The

         15  property on Sheridan Avenue is a five story building

         16  with 54 apartments.  Original certificate of

         17  occupancy of this building was granted in the year

         18  1922.  Building has about 508 violations including

         19  279 B and 154 C violations.  The building has been

         20  plagued with chronic water leaks, mold, collapsing

         21  ceilings, interrupted heat and infestation of rats.

         22  Until recently, there was no lock in the entrance

         23  door and strangers used to roam in the lobby and in

         24  the roof at night.

         25                 Over the years, I have come in
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          2  contact with the Housing Department regarding many

          3  of these violations.  I have always found HPD

          4  employees are dedicated, friendly and eager to help.

          5    However, often it appeared that the system, in

          6  some respect, is not working properly.  Inspectors

          7  often come to inspect, but their reports are not

          8  followed through.

          9                 It seems HPD is unable to enforce the

         10  code.  For example, one contractor was authorized to

         11  fix some violation in my apartment, but workers were

         12  prevented by this super from doing the repair work.

         13  HPD told me that they're unable to do anything about

         14  it.  Often we see inspectors in the building, but

         15  the violations do not get fixed.

         16                 Violations continued to pile up in

         17  our building while getting worse and HPD is unable

         18  to do anything about it.  So, some desperate tenants

         19  organized and helped form the housing group called

         20  CASA.  And we sought help from the mortgage and

         21  bank.  The officers in the bank inspected the

         22  building and undesirable conditions and under

         23  pressure, landlord sold the building with about 600

         24  violations.  New landlord trying to do some repair,

         25  but since the building was neglected for a long
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          2  period of time, the conditions are still very bad

          3  shape.  There are serious leaks throughout the

          4  building, many pipes are rotted, many of the

          5  plumbing system now has to be replaced.  If HPD had

          6  acted in time, conditions would not have gotten this

          7  bad.  Nothing appears to happen up in inspection by

          8  HPD is complete.  Then it is often annoyed what

          9  steps, if any being taken to fix the violations

         10  after the inspection is complete?  Who has the

         11  responsibilities to follow through the inspection

         12  reports?

         13                 HPD needs to be more vigilant with

         14  the negligent owners and need more legal authority

         15  to enforce the code.

         16                 Safe Housing Act will do that.  We

         17  request that City take necessary action in this

         18  matter and pass the Safe Housing Act. Thanks.

         19                 MR. FILS-AIME:  Afternoon, Council

         20  Member Dilan, Councilwoman James.  My name is

         21  Anderson Fils-Aime.  I'm the lead organizer for the

         22  Pratt Area Community Council in Councilwoman James'

         23  district at 201 DeKalb Avenue.

         24                 On behalf of Deb Howard, my Executive

         25  Director, Juanita Edwards and Hector Rivera, my
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          2  teammates in the community organizing and tenant

          3  organizing division and part of the Pratt Leadership

          4  Committee which gentlemen Damon Rhodes is here, and

          5  Althea Watson is here.  I offer this very, very

          6  brief testimony.

          7                 I want to piggy back on what the

          8  gentleman from the Urban Justice Center talked about

          9  in terms of this being a first step in preserving

         10  affordable housing.  And no matter what the cost is

         11  to the City, it's worth it.  Because what we don't

         12  pay on the front end, we will pay on the back end.

         13                 For years, I did direct service to

         14  the residents of New York City and it's very

         15  frustrating when you tell a resident the steps that

         16  they need to take to get repairs in their apartment.I

         17  want to commend the Mayor and the administration for

         18  311, the money put into HPD.  When you call 311, you

         19  go to housing court and you file an HP action which

         20  remember, if you file an HP action, you cannot get

         21  an abatement.  So, you have to continue paying your

         22  full rent.  You cannot seek an abatement when you do

         23  an HP action.  And it's not wise to advise our

         24  tenants to withhold their rent, because so many of

         25  them pay so much in rent that they live so close to
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          2  the margins, that if you tell someone withhold your

          3  rent, there's a chance when they get to housing

          4  court for the non payment part, where they can seek

          5  an abatement due to repairs, that they won't have

          6  the money.

          7                 So, Intro 561 gives us what we have

          8  seen working with our members in ANHD, the

          9  enforcement.  That's what this is really about.  We

         10  have some great laws on the books but it's the

         11  enforcement.  It's the enforcement part that TCEP

         12  gave us and that the alternative program in 561 will

         13  give us.  No matter what the cost is for

         14  enforcement, we need to support that.  Because

         15  having the laws on the books and as this gentleman

         16  testified, and this woman testified, on behalf of

         17  themselves and their members, and you can't get the

         18  enforcement.  That's what leads to the frustration.

         19  That's what leads to folks saying I cannot have this

         20  type of life for my children.  And they leave the

         21  units and then when they enter the shelter system,

         22  that's where we end up paying for it again.

         23                 At this time, I'm going to give way

         24  to Damon Rhodes. He's one of the members of the

         25  Pratt Area Community Council and he can speak to his
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          2  own personal experience with the Enforcement program

          3  and hopefully what Intro 561 will give us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  And even

          5  though you introduced him, you still have to

          6  introduce yourself for the record.

          7                 Okay, you'll have to start it over

          8  again.

          9                 MR. RHODES:  Good afternoon.  My name

         10  is Damon Rhodes.  And I just wanted to speak about

         11  how the TCEP program has helped me.

         12                 I currently live at 251 Clifton Place

         13  in Brooklyn, which is in the Bedford- Stuyvesant

         14  section in Brooklyn.  I've lived there for two

         15  years.

         16                 When I first viewed the apartment, it

         17  seemed to be in the best of conditions.  But shortly

         18  after signing the lease and moving in, you find out

         19  that the space needed major repairs.  We had leaks

         20  in the ceilings and walls and the bathroom fixtures

         21  needed to be replaced.  At that time, I called that

         22  management and they would tell me that repairs would

         23  come soon, only to leave me to deal with those

         24  conditions for months.

         25                 Shortly after that, Pratt Area
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          2  Community Council came to my building's rescue.

          3  They introduced me to the TCEP program, which began

          4  to put pressure on the management, which sent out

          5  HPD inspectors and handed out violations which

          6  forced them to do the repairs.

          7                 Since the TCEP program, the tenants

          8  have formed an association and we got involved with

          9  other programs.  One being the FTAP program, which

         10  is the Federal Trespass Affidavit Program which

         11  keeps our lobbies free of loiterers.

         12                 We are now living in a clean and safe

         13  environment with lobby doors that lock and for that,

         14  we the tenants of 251 Clifton, would like to say

         15  thank you to Pratt, to Council Member James and to

         16  all those who helped us in our fight.  Thank you and

         17  have a blessed day.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you and I

         19  have no questions.  Council Member James do you have

         20  anything you want to add?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  No, just want

         22  to thank Pratt Area Community Council for all that

         23  they do in my district and throughout central

         24  Brooklyn.  They are a model organization and I rely

         25  upon them on so many efforts.  So to Deb and the
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          2  entire staff, to pack be the glory.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

          4                 Okay the next panel will consist of

          5  Zhi Qin Zheng, I guess she is the translator for

          6  ManSee Kong, they can come up, as well as Chloe

          7  Tribich from Housing Here and Now, if she's still

          8  here, yes, there she goes, LaVerne Holley from the

          9  New York City Aids Housing Network and Mr. Cameron

         10  Craig also from the New York City Aids Housing

         11  Network.

         12                 Okay and I should see five

         13  individuals and I got five individuals.

         14                 Okay, you can begin in any order.

         15                 MS. ZHENG: (Through an interpreter)

         16  Hello my name is Zhi Qin Zheng.  I've lived in

         17  Chinatown for over 20 years.  In the last few years,

         18  we are facing more and more gentrification. Rents

         19  keep going up and a lot of landlords want to kick

         20  out low income tenants, renovate apartments and then

         21  rent those apartments at a higher cost to white

         22  tenants.

         23                 Take for example, 61 Delancey Street

         24  where I live. The landlord bought the building and

         25  immediately started to kick out the tenants.  He did
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          2  not provide heat and hot water and when we had

          3  collapsed ceilings and leaky faucets, he ignored us.

          4    We have huge mice and roach problems and lots of

          5  violations.

          6                 These are conditions we live with all

          7  the time. Even though there is 311 because of

          8  language barriers, it's still difficult for tenants

          9  to call.  For those who do call, some calls can take

         10  40- 50 minutes.  In my case, my kids are grown, but

         11  the inspector that comes often doesn't speak my

         12  language.  If my kids are not home, I can only point

         13  to what's wrong.  But some things are not visible to

         14  the eye.  Pointing is not enough.

         15                 For example, I can't explain that the

         16  landlord constantly turns off heat in the evenings

         17  and on the weekends.  It is not unusual for HPD to

         18  take a week to follow up on 311 calls. Last year, I

         19  didn't have electricity for days, but it took HPD a

         20  week to call back to see if it had been restored.

         21  They never even came.

         22                 When I had no heat and hot water, it

         23  took five days for an inspector to come.  On the day

         24  they came, it was 60 degrees and we didn't need heat

         25  at that day.
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          2                 In my building and the building next

          3  door, there are a total of over 500 HPD violations.

          4  We called 311 for years, but it wasn't until we

          5  organized the Chinatown Tenants Union, that HPD

          6  finally agreed to sue the landlord.

          7                 These are my personal experiences.

          8  But I am not the only one that faces this issue.  I

          9  hope you understand our problems and pass the Safe

         10  Housing Act, giving us protection we need.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

         13                 Next, and you can just begin by just

         14  identifying yourself for the record and then you can

         15   --

         16                 MS. HOLLEY:  Good afternoon.  My name

         17  is LaVerne Holley and I'm a Board Member at the New

         18  York City AIDS Housing Network.

         19                 I am so happy to be here testifying

         20  on the Safe Housing Act.  I've been living in my

         21  building in the Bronx, for seven years.  All of them

         22  have been filled with my futile complaints to HPD,

         23  to my landlord and to anyone who would listen, about

         24  serious code violations in my building.  Collapsing

         25  ceilings, water damage, no heat, no hot water, just
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          2  about any complaint that you can think of, I have

          3  it.

          4                 I'm also living with AIDS.  These

          5  code violations and the stress associated with me

          6  trying to chase down the landlord for repairs, are

          7  making me dangerously sick.

          8                 The Safe Homes Act will make it

          9  possible for me and the 15 families all of whom have

         10  the same serious code violations, to get repairs.

         11  This bill is life saving and I urge the Council to

         12  pass it immediately.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  I

         14  think I'm going to do something a little different

         15  here, just to allow the next two members to testify

         16  a little bit more comfortably.

         17                 Council Member James, if you have no

         18  questions, I will release the first two speakers so

         19  that they can make their testimony in a more

         20  comfortable manner.  And we thank you for your

         21  testimony.

         22                 MS. TRIBICH:  Hi.  Good afternoon.

         23  Thanks to the Housing and Buildings Committee for

         24  giving us this opportunity to testify and especially

         25  to Council Members James and Speaker Quinn for
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          2  supporting this legislation.

          3                 My name's Chloe Tribich, the lead

          4  organizer of Housing Here and Now, and along with

          5  Ray Brescia and staff from the community group Make

          6  the Road by Walking.  I was one of the people who

          7  worked on developing this legislation along with

          8  Speaker, staff and Council Member James' staff.

          9                 So, the first part of my prepared

         10  testimony echoes points that were made previously

         11  regarding the concentration of poor conditions and

         12  poor neighborhoods of color and the connection

         13  between affordability and good maintenance.  I do

         14  just want to emphasize though, to kind of underscore

         15  the extent to which bad building conditions are more

         16  prevalent in poor neighborhoods.

         17                 The Furman Center reported that in

         18  2004, although there were only 41.1 C violations per

         19  1,000 units City- wide, in Bushwick there were 184.1

         20  per 1,000 units.  And towards the point of the

         21  connection between affordability and good

         22  maintenance, the Furman Center data also suggest

         23  that there's a strong correlation between high rent

         24  and poor conditions.  So for example, the High

         25  Bridge neighborhood in the Bronx is in the top five
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          2  neighborhoods for C violations.

          3                 So, I think recent HPD reforms,

          4  including the Targeted Cyclical Enforcement Program

          5  have been huge advances towards effective code

          6  enforcement and the Safe Housing Act would be an

          7  enormously effective compliment towards that.  And I

          8  just want to give one example of a building that

          9  would kind of illustrate why this is the case.

         10                 So, 237 East 194th Street in the

         11  Bronx has received an enormous amount of organizing

         12  assistance from experienced community groups.  It

         13  was in TCEP, it got a lot of attention from HPD code

         14  enforcement and litigation, it's gotten attention

         15  from the mortgage holder and the mortgage holder

         16  sent staff to do inspections of that building

         17  several times over the course of the past year.  As

         18  a result of all this activity, the landlord did do

         19  some repairs, but as of this morning, this 25 unit

         20  building had 70 violations that were documented in

         21  the past 12 months alone.  And 57 of those 70

         22  violations were B and C violations.  And this,

         23  despite the enormous amount of attention from

         24  community groups, from HPD, from the bank, from

         25  local elected, even from the press that have been
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          2  focused on this building, this building is a perfect

          3  example of why the Safe Housing Act should be

          4  passed.

          5                 In addition to that, another

          6  important aspect of the Safe Housing Act is the

          7  attention that it focuses on underlying problems.  I

          8  don't think any other program that HPD has right now

          9  puts that sort of attention towards systemic repair,

         10  as opposed to just a particular violation.

         11  Unfortunately, I don't know of any great source of

         12  data that documents the frequency of cosmetic repair

         13  work, but I know from my own experience doing

         14  housing organizing for six years and from the

         15  community groups and the tenants that I've worked

         16  with, that this is just shamefully common.

         17                 I just want to comment about the

         18  suggestion that a sunset clause should be added to

         19  this legislation, the language of the legislation.

         20  As I currently understand, it says that if the

         21  number of buildings fit in the criteria for

         22  inclusion the program drops below 200, then only

         23  those that fit the criteria will be taken into the

         24  program.  I don't think there's need for a sunset

         25  clause.  I think Housing Here and Now would oppose
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          2  tacking a sunset clause on.

          3                 And I think in addition to that, the

          4  criteria, as they exist now, based on existing

          5  emergency repair charges and violations, are as

          6  objective as they could ever be, given the sources

          7  of data that we have.  So I think they're strong.

          8  It would be extremely unlikely, in my opinion, that

          9  a building that didn't need this sort of attention

         10  could get put in this program based on the way the

         11  legislation is written.

         12                 So, I strongly urge the Council to

         13  pass Intro 561. Thank you.

         14                 MR. CRAIG:  Good afternoon.  My name

         15  is Cameron Craig.  I'm the community organizer for

         16  the New York City AIDS Housing Network.  I'd like to

         17  thank the Council for this opportunity to testify

         18  today.

         19                 The New York City AIDS Housing

         20  Network is an agency comprised and led by over 3,800

         21  low-income people living with HIV and AIDS.  I'm

         22  here today to basically just -- we support this bill

         23  also, but I'm also wondering, because I was

         24  listening earlier, being that HASA, the HIV AIDS

         25  Service Administration, has to, when we are looking
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          2  for housing, permanent housing, they have a list

          3  where they send us to real estate agents that have

          4  apartments available; now, will HASA be given this

          5  list also by HPD, so they will know which buildings

          6  not to send us to?  Because a lot of times, those of

          7  us who have HIV and AIDS are very weak in health,

          8  physically and mentally, and it is extremely hard

          9  for us to try and track down a landlord, much less

         10  try to stay there if we have a doctor's appointment,

         11  waiting for HPD to show up.  I just want to know

         12  will HASA be given a list of these apartments by

         13  HPD?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Normally we don't

         15  allow the panel to question the Committee, but I

         16  would say in this case, from my understanding of the

         17  bill, right now that's not included and I guess it

         18  could either be subject to a separate piece of

         19  legislation, or if Council Member James would allow

         20  it as an amendment to her current bill, she could

         21  include that in, if she so chooses. But as I

         22  understand it, the bill in its current form right

         23  now, and I don't see staff correcting me, that it's

         24  not included in the bill at this time.

         25                 MR. CRAIG:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Does that

          3  conclude your testimony?

          4                 MR CRAIG:  Yes, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  Council

          6  Member James, do you have anything?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  No, just that

          8  I don't believe we should amend this bill to include

          9  that provision, but that's something that I would

         10  like to pursue and in a separate piece of

         11  legislation.  Thank you.

         12                 MR. CRAIG:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  The final panel

         14  will consist of a Mr. Bruce J. Gould, Rosa Flores

         15  and Margaret Chin from Asian Americans for Equality.

         16

         17                 Okay, you may begin.  Any order, but

         18  typically ladies first.

         19                 MS. FLORES:  Great.  I like that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Mr. Gould looks

         21  like a fine gentleman anyway.  So, I'm sure he has

         22  no problem.

         23                 MR. GOULD:  I suggested it.

         24                 MS. FLORES:  Good afternoon, ladies

         25  and gentlemen. My name is Rosa Flores and I come
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          2  from Sunset Park In Brooklyn.

          3                 I have been living in the same place

          4  for about, I would say, 15 years.  And I would like

          5  everybody to listen to me now when I speak please.

          6  Because I really want you to push gently, but very

          7  strongly, for this Safe Homes Act.  We have been

          8  advocating for this for about two years and it's

          9  about time that we get it.

         10                 I have been living in that place for

         11  15 years, filthy.  I have two children, one was

         12  very, very healthy until recently she is having lung

         13  problems with symptoms of asthma.  I am always sick

         14  when I am in that place.  My husband was very

         15  healthy too, and now he's very sick suffering from

         16  bronchitis and whatever, you know, he's tired all

         17  the time.  So, I wonder why?

         18                 Then I have reasons to believe that

         19  there is probably something in that place that is

         20  making us sick, the water, the pipes.  In the

         21  summertime, we can not turn on the AC, even though

         22  we need it, because if we turn on one, we risk

         23  blowing a fuse.  So, we wont have electricity.  And

         24  the wires are so, how can I tell you, it's like

         25  crisp and we're going to have a fire soon if
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          2  something is not done.

          3                 So, our lives I think are worth it.

          4  Something for somebody for us, please listen before

          5  somebody is dead in that building.

          6                 There is something else,  We have

          7  cock roaches and the lack of repairs are so bad.  I

          8  could keep going on and on, but I think that's

          9  enough.  So please push it.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.

         11                 MS. CHIN:  Good afternoon.  My name

         12  is Margaret Chin.  I'm the --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  I'd just like to

         14  ask if you stay until the panel's done.

         15                 MS. CHIN:  My name is Margaret Chin.

         16  I'm the Deputy Executive Director of Asian Americans

         17  for Equality.  Good afternoon, Chairman Dilan and

         18  Council Member James.  I'm here also with a group of

         19  our tenant leaders from Chinatown Lower East Side.

         20  And I really want to thank Council Member James and

         21  Speaker Quinn for introducing this Safe Housing Act.

         22                 I think for us AAFE, we've been

         23  around for 33 years and we do tenant organizing, and

         24  we are also for affordable low income housing, and

         25  we maintain these housing in very good quality. And
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          2  the landlords who collect rent every month and the

          3  tenant who pay their rents on time and pay rent

          4  increases, they deserve to live in decent, safe

          5  housing conditions.

          6                 I just wanted to really emphasize

          7  what some of the speakers said earlier.  This is

          8  really an important legislation to help us protect

          9  the affordable housing, the low income housing that

         10  we have in our neighborhood.  And for many of the

         11  tenants who endure no heat and hot water in the

         12  winter time, they really need the help.  And the

         13  good thing about this legislation is that in the

         14  last resort, HPD can come in and do the repair.  And

         15  that's what the tenants are looking for.

         16                 And in our neighborhood, because of

         17  language and cultural barriers, a lot of time people

         18  don't access 311 or call in, and that's why you see

         19  a very low complaint number, but it doesn't mean

         20  that people don't complain.  A lot of them come to

         21  our agency and we try to do as much as we can.

         22                 In the last two to three years we

         23  worked with about 26 buildings, and 22 of those have

         24  over 27 B and C violations, that you mention in the

         25  legislation.  And some of them, of course, they have
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          2  over 300 violations and more.

          3                 But just to give you an example, I

          4  have a tenant here from Essex Street.  In the Fall

          5  of 2005, the tenants there, most of them seniors,

          6  there are supposed to be 22 units but only about

          7  half the units are occupied because the landlord has

          8  gotten rid of half the tenants there and renovated

          9  new apartments.  But what he did was, no heat and

         10  hot water, no gas, for at least three months.  And

         11  the tenants there did call 311 and finally we had to

         12  get an HPD Assistant Commissioner to come down to

         13  get heat and hot water back on.  What the landlord

         14  failed to tell HPD is that he put in new wires, but

         15  guess what?  The new wires were not connected to the

         16  apartments.  So the new apartments, they have new

         17  wire, but the old apartments have no wire to plug

         18  the electric heaters.

         19                 And then, they agree, we went to

         20  court, we did HP action, landlord agreed to do

         21  repair, but he dragged his feet.  And now the

         22  building is in worst condition because some of the

         23  back wall has fallen down.  I mean, the tenants

         24  there are so afraid that they're going to lose their

         25  home.  Why do they have to endure this? And a lot of
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          2  these are senior citizens and they pay their rent on

          3  time.

          4                 We also have another building that we

          5  work with on Madison Street where there was a fire

          6  and we were able to help the tenants maintain their

          7  apartment by paying the dollar.  And the landlord

          8  where they repaired the apartment and they put in

          9  the gas pipe and they don't fill up the holes.  The

         10  don't do the complete job.  And now we see families

         11  with children are once again calling 311 and

         12  complaining, there's lead paint, there's bed bugs.

         13  And the landlord is still dragging his feet.

         14                 With this new legislation, if they

         15  drag their feet, HPD comes in and fixes it.  And I

         16  think this is really what the community are asking

         17  for.  Government come in and do the job so because

         18  in our neighborhood, we're also seeing a lot of

         19  gentrification.  Landlords are selling their

         20  buildings at a very high price.  And they do not put

         21  any money in terms of investing in the building.  A

         22  lot of the violations are sanitary conditions.  If

         23  they leave garbage in the hallway, they don't clean

         24  it, that's where rats and roaches come from.  So, I

         25  think a lot of these conditions can be changed.
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          2                 We just started, our district just

          3  started, got into the TCEP program.  So we hope that

          4  through that program, we will get some repairs

          5  happening.  But also one other point that I want to

          6  raise is that this bill, I think will help encourage

          7  the tenants and the residents in our community to

          8  call 311 and file complaints, Because if they see

          9  that repairs are being made and we will make sure

         10  that they know about those and we're committed to

         11  work with the City Council to make sure buildings

         12  that really need this program get into the program.

         13  Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you very

         15  much.  Mr. Gould?

         16                 MR. GOULD:  Thank you.  Thank you

         17  members of the Council.

         18                 I have some background in this field

         19  and I will not read my presentation, which I believe

         20  all of the members of the council have, but I would

         21  like to start off by saying an explanation in my

         22  interest of Intro 561.

         23                 I go back a long time in this field.

         24  I wrote the City's initial procedures for the

         25  Emergency Repair Program.  The City, at that time,
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          2  took the risk of employing me after I was counselled

          3  to the Harlem rent strike.  It was over that

          4  upheaval in the early 60s that gave birth to

          5  Emergency Repair Program.

          6                 I have a smidgen more of a background

          7  on this topic. I served two terms as a housing judge

          8  before retiring.  And prior to that, nearly two

          9  decades at HPD in a variety of positions from

         10  council First Deputy Commissioner, to rent and

         11  housing maintenance to creating the office of

         12  Neighborhood Preservation and running HPD's

         13  buildings rehab finance.

         14                 How to achieve the maintenance of the

         15  existing housing has always fascinated me.  I await,

         16  as I'm sure the members of this Committee do, the

         17  enactment of the Governor's legislative proposal to

         18  allow municipalities to enforce housing maintenance

         19  to administrative proceedings.  It's been a long

         20  time coming, unbelievable, but I wrote that bill in

         21  1971.  And at that time, if memory serves correctly,

         22  and it does, I was then Mayor Lindsay's number one

         23  HPD legislator proposal.  But rather than dealing

         24  with what I estimate to be roughly 29,000 violations

         25  under Intro 561, the Committee will face the issue
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          2  of how to achieve correction of half a million

          3  housing code violations annually if we see the light

          4  of day and the passage of the Governors proposed

          5  authorization for the City, to enforce matters by

          6  administrative adjudication.

          7                 I've looked at the bill very

          8  carefully.  I would like to be singling about its

          9  enforemcent and its carrying out of its mission.

         10  Everyone here today certainly has joined hands in,

         11  wouldn't quite call it a love fest (sic.), but it's

         12  really been an enormous amount of effort.  Bills

         13  don't come before the City Council as supported as

         14  this one does, without a humongous amount of energy,

         15  and I appreciate that.

         16                 But I wonder as I read the bill, what

         17  HPD lacks authority to do under ERP that you want to

         18  authorize to be done. What is it that HPD cannot do

         19  today that this bill will authorize? HPD should have

         20  a long list and maybe the members of the Committee

         21  do, where HERP has been frustrated in carrying out

         22  its mission.

         23                 The person speaking next to me

         24  mentioned a very sore topic, she says about the

         25  violations with regard to the electrical system.
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          2  You put on another electrical consuming device in

          3  the apartment and it blows.  Well, it blows because

          4  there's nothing in our law that says that the

          5  electrical systems have to be upgraded. I used to

          6  know the figures of the multiplier effect of how

          7  we're using electricity today, compared to what we

          8  were a couple of decades ago.  But there's nothing

          9  in our law that says that the landlord has a

         10  violation because he hasn't updated the electrical

         11  system.  Dare I say at this time, this bill will not

         12  handle that issue, understood.

         13                 However I find a lot of maybe

         14  intended inconsistencies, in the drafting of the

         15  bill.  HPD explains some of them.  It starts off

         16  with 27 open hazardous and immediately hazardous

         17  violations and then later on it goes to 25.  But HPD

         18  has not as far as I know, shared with this Committee

         19  or produced for themselves, a list of the 200

         20  buildings that would qualify for distressed

         21  buildings.  I spoke to them only yesterday and was

         22  told they expect to have a list in September.  Well,

         23  how can you intellectually decide what the numbers

         24  will be, whether the amount of 100 dollars ERP per

         25  dwelling unit or 27 open hazardous violations then
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          2  going down to 25.  If you haven't run the list, if

          3  you haven't run the computer system to give you an

          4  idea what we're talking about.  Which brings me to

          5  the question of the HPD computer system.  Everyone,

          6  according to the New York Time story that one would

          7  want to be on board for support of this bill is on

          8  board. But who's not on board are the people, the

          9  owners of those 200 buildings.  And when they start

         10  looking at the litigation possibilities over the

         11  spill, I said a moment ago, HPD's computer system,

         12  which I knew in the past extensively, is not

         13  flawless.  And will you be in a position as a

         14  disgruntled owner to go ahead and to say I don't

         15  belong on this list?

         16                 Now we know that all disgruntled

         17  owners will not be people of inadequate means.  So

         18  we had recently and even today's New York Times

         19  story carries on about the owner, perspective owner

         20  of Starrett City.  And remember the stories

         21  originally were about other buildings in which he

         22  was involved, in which I think my recollection's

         23  correct, something like 8,000 violations.

         24                 So, it's not only people who

         25  inadequately able to litigate these matters.
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          2  There's no conclusive, in the bill, there's nothing

          3  that says that HPD's list is etched in stone.  What

          4  if you're on the list and you say, wait a second,

          5  there's 150 other buildings that are worse than

          6  mine, or equally bad as mine.  Why am I on the list?

          7    Why isn't somebody else?  I think the bill needs

          8  to look at that and to foreclose litigation to the

          9  extent you can.               One always would like

         10  to have a bill that you cant litigate over.  We know

         11  that's not possible.  But let's keep it limited as

         12  far as we can, and I think the issue of who's on

         13  that list and fighting over that, is an issue that

         14  can be taken care of in this legislation.

         15                 The bill has a provision, attached to

         16  my copies that I distributed to the Committee, I

         17  took the email copy from Council Lady's office and I

         18  numbered it.  I line numbered it to make it easier

         19  to identify what the issues are, or to talk to the

         20  same one. But you'll find on page five, line four,

         21  of the copy I've given you, Intro 561 uses

         22  notification to the owner.  Back to basics of due

         23  process, how do you notify the owner?  It wouldn't

         24  take much to go ahead and make reference to existing

         25  law or to write your own provision of how the owner
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          2  is to be notified.  But it seems to me that it's

          3  essential to go ahead and eliminate those kind of

          4  avenues of litigation.

          5                 An open question I have, this is a

          6  mandated program. The City must produce every year a

          7  list.  But what about the obligation to do something

          8  about the buildings that are on the list?  I don't

          9  find that in the bill.  With the present climate, we

         10  all expect that the administration will do something

         11  about this, but what about future administrations,

         12  which may not look so kindly upon expending what we

         13  heard today, it would be $10 million. Perhaps we

         14  should have it, that it's a mandated program.  It's

         15  not that way as I read the bill today.

         16                 The issue of management of these

         17  buildings, distressed buildings, while the City

         18  expends the funds for system replacement and

         19  correction of related underlying conditions, has

         20  side stepped.  It's not in the bill.  Who's going to

         21  run them?   Is the owner, who sees that the City, is

         22  pouring in money that will place liens on the

         23  property and then foreclose the property?  Will he

         24  have a stake in taking the rent money that he may be

         25  collecting and investing it back in the building?
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          2  Who is going to run the building at this time?

          3  Who's going to pay for the super?  Who's going to

          4  pay to see that garbage is collected?

          5                 Also, it was mentioned about 7A

          6  administration that if you're in that program you

          7  can't be in the Alternative Enforcement Program.

          8  What if a building gets into the 7A administration

          9  program after the Alternative Enforcement Program is

         10  in operation?   Are they bumped out?  Why?  If

         11  that's, I don't know what the answer to that

         12  question is from this draft.

         13                 I would not leave the evaluation of

         14  the program to the fourth year.  You require in the

         15  bill every year, by February 15th, there will be a

         16  report.  But you leave it to the fourth year to get

         17  an evaluation.  I think it's way too late.

         18                 I used to head for quite a few years,

         19  HPD's office of Program Management Analysis.  My

         20  view, you don't want to leave the analysis to a

         21  fourth year.  Let it come, preliminarily with each

         22  annual report.  Grope with it.  See what HPD has to

         23  say at the time.

         24                 I dearly appreciate your listening to

         25  these remarks. I hope and I know that someone will

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDING

          2  surely read what I wrote which has some more detail.

          3    Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Just to add that

          5  Counsel has been taking notes on your suggestions.

          6  And she'll take it back and the Committee will

          7  review them at that time.  But we were taking notes

          8  on the suggestions in the areas that you pointed

          9  out.

         10                 MR. GOULD:  Thank you very kindly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  To Ms. Flores, I

         12  would just like to maybe, as I conclude the hearing,

         13  have a private conversation with you on the side, so

         14  we can get some action done in your building.

         15                 Council Member James?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.  Mr.

         17  Gould, we should really consider hiring you to give

         18  us some legal assistance.  And let me just say that

         19  I'm impressed with your pedigree and your

         20  background.  Obviously you've found some

         21  deficiencies in the bill, particularly the lack of

         22  definition with respect to underlying conditions,

         23  the lack of protocol with respect to notification,

         24  lack of due process.  I suggest that at some point

         25  in time, there will probably be a clean up bill and
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          2  I'm certain that we will be leaning on you for

          3  advice and counsel pro bono.

          4                 MR. GOULD:  I did speak to Kate in

          5  your office.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Great.

          7                 MR. GOULD:  And she is the one who

          8  sent me the bill, in fact by email.  That's why I

          9  was able to number the pages as I have taken the

         10  liberty to do in the copies I distributed.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         12  And let me also say that the Governor's bill with

         13  respect to enforcing housing maintenance through

         14  administrative proceedings, I hope we're on the path

         15  to appealing.  But that's another discussion.

         16                 And to Ms. Chin, you talked about the

         17  cultural and the linguistic barriers.  I was getting

         18  to that issue earlier when I said if we just

         19  identified buildings based on the 311 system, we're

         20  going to leave a significant number of buildings out

         21  of the picture of HPD and it's based upon the

         22  barriers that you just described.  So how do we get

         23  to those buildings?

         24                 MS. CHIN:  Well I think it's really

         25  working with the advocates and the community
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          2  organizations.  That's why with the TCEP program

          3  it's been successful is because there is a working

          4  relationship with a council member and HPD and we

          5  are also asked for suggestions of buildings.  So,

          6  it's not just looking at the number of violations on

          7  the HPD website, but buildings that we work with

          8  that we know the conditions of that.  So, I think

          9  that working relationship has to be there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And thank you

         11  for all that you do representing Lower East Side and

         12  Chinatown.  You do a fabulous job.

         13                 And to Mr. Chair, thank you for this

         14  hearing.  I learned a lot.  Look forward to passage

         15  of this bill, a clean up bill, a memorandum of

         16  understanding and relying upon Mr. Gould's years of

         17  experience and his intellect.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Thank you.  And

         19  just before I close, Mr. Gould, I want to piggy back

         20  on what Council Member James spoke about and what

         21  you mentioned in your testimony regards to potential

         22  legislation by the State administration.  Is this

         23  something that is a Governor Spitzer initiative?  Or

         24  is this something that's been on the books for

         25  awhile or for many years and hasn't been
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          2  implemented?

          3                 MR. GOULD:  It in fact, Monday of

          4  this week, there was a notice in the paper.

          5  Originally, the authorization for administrative

          6  adjudication was in the Governor's budget message. I

          7  didn't know until I saw that there was provision of

          8  State constitution for that kind of legislation in a

          9  budget message.  It came out during the negotiations

         10  and was unmentioned.  But Monday of this week, the

         11  Governor has put it back on his agenda.  I know that

         12  State Senator Liz Krueger has a bill which would

         13  also authorize the same language, we haven't seen

         14  the Governor's language, but apparently the same

         15  language.

         16                 So, that is a very, I hesitate to

         17  start on the subject because what we heard today,

         18  one way to take it, is every year we're going to

         19  have 200 buildings, no disrespect to anyone in the

         20  room, every year we're going to have 200 buildings

         21  which are in this lousy shape.  Well, we don't want

         22  200 buildings every year to be in lousy shape.  We

         23  have no, in spite of former colleagues, not the

         24  present company, at HPD, we don't have a code

         25  enforcement system.  You've heard it from some of
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          2  the people sitting at this table who spoke of their

          3  own problem.  We do not have an effective code

          4  enforcement system.

          5                 And in 1951 we went to a criminal

          6  court enforcement of the housing code.  We stopped

          7  it in '72- '73 with the enactment of the housing

          8  court.  And if you look back at the bill, that was

          9  initially passed by the Council in the Housing

         10  Maintenance Code for the new enforcement, you'll

         11  find that the section is blank. Article 81 is blank,

         12  because the Council could not decide on what to do.

         13  It took another seven years before we got to the

         14  housing court.  In which the preliminary remarks are

         15  all about enforcement of law.  But they stuck into

         16  the housing court bill, some proceedings.  So

         17  overwhelmed in the housing court are landlord and

         18  tenant disputes.  And that's before we had warranty

         19  of habitability.  So in the old days when you went

         20  to the housing court and said the toilet doesn't

         21  work and the windows are broken, the answer from the

         22  court was, pay your full rent.  There was no remedy

         23  for that.

         24                 Enough.  I appreciate your time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN:  Okay.  Thank you.
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          2    And I'd like to thank the panel.

          3                 Before I conclude today's hearing, I

          4  have to acknowledge that we've received written

          5  testimony that is to be entered into the record in

          6  full by the Community Housing and Improvement

          7  Program, Inc., otherwise known as CHIP in support of

          8  passage of Intro 561, as well as the Citizens

          9  Housing and Planning Council, also in support of

         10  passage of Intro 561.  These two items will be

         11  entered into the record.

         12                 Intro 561, which is on the

         13  Committee's agenda today will be laid aside.  And

         14  that will conclude this hearing of the Housing and

         15  Buildings Committee.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
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